SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 1 9 2015

S223536

Frank A. McGuire Clerk Deputy

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MOUNTAIN AIR ENTERPRISES, LLC,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

SUNDOWNER TOWERS, LLC et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

2d Civil No. A138306

(Marin County Super. Ct. No. CIV081957)

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Two

*Erik A. Humber #83669 LAW OFFICE OF ERIK A. HUMBER 165 North Redwood Drive, Suite 110

San Rafael, CA 94903

Telephone: (415) 479-7890

Facsimile: (415) 479-7987

E-mail: humlaw@pacbell.net

*Jeffrey I. Ehrlich #117931 THE EHRLICH LAW FIRM 16130 Ventura Boulevard, Suite 610

Encino, CA 91436

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

Can a party's assertion of an affirmative-defense trigger a clause that awards attorney's fees to the party who prevails in an "action" or "proceeding" to enforce the contract?

INTRODUCTION

The proper construction of the type of attorney's fee clause used by the parties in this case has divided the Court of Appeal. Some courts take a literal view of the language in the clause. As a result, they will award fees to a party who affirmatively files suit, but not to a party who relies on the contract defensively. This asymmetry troubles the courts in the other camp, so they stretch the language of the clause to ensure that either party invoking the contract can obtain fees.

In Mountain Air's view, the courts in the literalist camp have the better argument. The attorney-fee clause in this case applies to an action or proceeding brought to enforce the contract. Affirmative defenses are not actions or proceedings, and they are pleaded — not brought. Therefore, the attorney-fee clause does not apply to affirmative defenses.

This case truly is that straightforward. None of the words in the attorney-fee clause are unclear. The Court of Appeal majority in this case, who adopted the "symmetrical" view, was simply unwilling to credit their natural meaning because it felt that attorney fees *should* be available for affirmative defenses.

This approach to contract interpretation is troubling because it is not animated by what the parties actually agreed to. It is doubtful that the authors of the opinions holding that affirmative defenses can trigger an attorney's fee clause that does not mention them believe that the parties actually had affirmative defenses in mind when they used the term "proceeding." That would have been an inexplicable choice of words, given that affirmative defenses are not referred to as proceedings in any other context. Nor are they ever "brought" — which makes the use of that verb in the fee provision equally problematic.

Neither the majority opinion in this case nor its predecessors offer solutions to these lexical dilemmas. Rather, they suggest that there is no logical reason for a fee provision to treat complaints and affirmative defenses differently. Actually, the distinction may be useful if a party wants to retain the option of raising contract-based affirmative defenses without risking liability for the plaintiff's attorney fees under Civil Code section 1717.

That is not, however, the central problem with the "symmetrical" view adopted in the majority's opinion. The deeper flaw is its determination to improve the contract rather than to simply enforce it as written. Courts are supposed to carry out the mutual intention of the parties, without regard for the prudence of their arrangement.

Perhaps omitting affirmative defenses from an attorney-fee clause is unwise. But even ill-considered contracts must be enforced according to their terms, and there is no justification for ignoring or re-defining the terms that the parties included in their contract.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Summary

1. The purchase and repurchase agreements are executed

The underlying dispute in this case concerned a piece of commercial real estate in Reno, Nevada. (Typed Majority Opinion ("Maj Opn.") at 2.) The property includes multiple buildings, which were originally designated a single parcel located 450 Arlington Avenue. (*Id.*) On February 17, 2006 the property was subdivided into three separate legal parcels: the north tower, the south tower, and the casino building. (*Id.*)

Before the property was subdivided, it became the subject of a transaction between Steven Scarpa and a Nevada limited liability company named Sundowner Towers. (*Id.* at 2.) On December 12, 2005 Scarpa and

Sundowner entered into two separate written contracts. (*Id.*) In the first contract, Sundowner agreed to sell the south tower to Scarpa for \$7 million. (*Id.*) In the second contract, Sundowner promised that it would later repurchase the south tower for the same price, plus a 12% inflation factor. (*Id.*)

Sundowner's members, Bijan Madjlessi and Glenn Larsen, personally guaranteed its obligations under the repurchase agreement. (*Id.*) And Scarpa's rights under both agreements were later assigned to Mountain Air Enterprises, a California limited liability company in which he is the sole member. (*Id.* at 2.)

2. The option agreement is executed

On April 25, 2006 Mountain Air entered into an option agreement with Larsen and Madjlessi, giving them the exclusive right to purchase the south tower during a specified window of time. (*Id.* at 2.) Sundowner was not a party to the contract. (*Id.*)

The option agreement contained the following attorney-fees clause: If any legal action or any other proceeding, including arbitration or an action for declaratory relief; is brought for the enforcement of this Agreement or because of an alleged dispute, breach, default, or misrepresentation in connection with any provision of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney fees, expert fees and other costs incurred in that action or proceeding, in addition to any other relief to which the prevailing party may be entitled. (*Id.* at 11-12.)

3. Sundowner fails to honor the repurchase agreement, so Mountain Air sues it and its members

On April 27, 2006 Sundowner complied with the purchase agreement by acquiring the south tower from a third party and transferring it to Mountain Air. (*Id.*) But Sundowner never repurchased the south tower, as it had promised to do in the repurchase agreement. (*Id.* at 3.)

Mountain Air attempted to enforce the repurchase agreement by filing this lawsuit against Sundowner, Larsen, and Madjlessi. (*Id.* at 3.)

B. Procedural History

1. The trial court finds that the repurchase agreement cannot be enforced — but denies attorney fees

The defendants prevailed in a 13-day bench trial. (*Id.* at 3.) The trial court ruled in their favor on two affirmative defenses: (1) that the repurchase agreement was illegal and void under the subdivision-map laws of both California and Nevada, and (2) that the option agreement was a novation that extinguished the repurchase agreement. (*Id.* at 3-4.) The trial court's final statement of decision was filed on October 10, 2012 and judgment was entered the same day. (*Id.*)

On December 7, 2012 the defendants moved for an award of attorney fees based on the relevant provisions of the repurchase and option agreements. (*Id.* at 4.) The trial court denied the defendants' motion on March 20, 2013. (Dissent at 5.)

The court determined that fees could not be awarded under the repurchase agreement because that contract was void for illegality. (*Id.* at 5-6.) It ruled that the option agreement's attorney fee provision did not apply because the present action was not brought to enforce that agreement or because of a dispute in connection with that agreement. (*Id.* at 6.) In the

court's view, the relevance of the option agreement to the novation defense was not enough to warrant a fee award. (*Id.*)

On March 29, 2013 the defendants filed a timely notice of appeal from the trial court's order denying attorney fees. (Maj. Opn. at 4.)

2. The Court of Appeal holds that the novation defense warrants attorney fees

In a published 2-1 decision authored by Justice Stewart and joined by Presiding Justice Kline, the Court of Appeal reversed the order denying attorney fees. (Maj. Opn. at 21.) Justice Richman dissented. (Dissenting opn. of Richman, J. at 1-13.)

a. The majority opinion

The majority opinion approved of the trial court's refusal to award attorney fees pursuant to the void repurchase agreement. (Maj. Opn. at 11.) But it held that the defendants were entitled to an award of attorney fees based on the option contract. (*Id.* at 21.)

The majority determined that the novation defense constituted a "legal action" or "proceeding" for purposes of the attorney fee clause. (*Id.* at 13-14.) It acknowledged that a split of authority existed on this point; it endorsed a broad construction and rejected the appellate decisions to the contrary. (*Id.* at 15-18.) In the majority's view, it would be "absurd" for an attorney-fees provision to treat affirmative defenses differently than complaints. (*Id.* at 18.)

The majority held that the novation defense sought to enforce the option contract because it was based on the integration clause in that document. (*Id.* at 19.) Alternatively, the majority believed that the defense had been asserted because of a dispute "in connection with" the option agreement. (*Id.* at 20.) Because the subject matter of the novation defense fell within the scope of the attorney fee clause in the option contract, the

majority concluded that the defendants were entitled to an award of attorney fees. (*Id.* at 21.)

b. Justice Richman's dissent

In his dissenting opinion, Justice Richman disputed whether the novation defense fell within the scope of the attorney-fee clause in the option contract. (Dissenting opn. of Richman, J. at 1.) In his view, the novation defense was not an attempt to enforce the option agreement, nor did it arise from a dispute in connection with that contract. (*Id.* at 10-11.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In the Court of Appeal, the majority applied a de novo standard of review because it believed that the availability of attorney fees under the option agreement was purely a question of contract interpretation. (Maj. Opn. at 6 and 20, fn. 12.) Justice Richman disagreed. He argued that review should be deferential because the trial judge was in the best position to know whether the bench trial had been a proceeding to enforce the contract. (Disn. Opn. at 11.)

This deferential standard has already been employed in other cases where attorney fees were available only for actions brought to enforce a specific contract. (Shadoan v. World Savings & Loan Assn. (1990) 219 Cal.App.3d 97, 107-108 [whether an action was "on the contract" should be decided by trial court "in its discretion"]; El Escorial Owners' Ass'n v. DLC Plastering, Inc. (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 1337, 1365-1366 [where "provision limits fees to actions to enforce the terms of the subcontract . . . apportionment is within the trial court's discretion"].)

When awarding attorney fees in other contexts, trial courts are afforded the same broad discretion to evaluate the character of the litigation before them. (Woodland Hills Residents Assn., Inc. v. City Council (1979) 23 Cal.3d 917, 938 [discretion to determine whether litigation involved

enforcement of important right affecting the public interest]; Sears v. Baccaglio (1998) 60 Cal.App.4th 1136, 1151-1152 [discretion to choose prevailing party based on "crux" of lawsuit]; Carver v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc. (2004) 119 Cal.App.4th 498, 506 [discretion to determine whether lawsuit was predominately an antitrust action]; Walker v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 1158, 1181 [discretion to determine whether action had been brought to enjoin unfair business practice].)

The common link between those situations is that they all require the trial court to draw on its superior knowledge of the proceedings before it — which is the underlying basis of the court's broad discretion over attorney fees. (*In re Tobacco Cases I* (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 570, 588.)

That does not mean that trial courts have unfettered discretion to deny contractual attorney fees. (See, e.g., *Christensen v. Dewor Developments* (1983) 33 Cal.3d 778, 786 [trial court abused discretion by denying contractual attorney fees without valid justification]; *Roybal v. Governing Bd. of Salinas City Elementary School Dist.* (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 1143, 1148 [reversal required "even giving all possible deference to the superior court's exercise of discretion"].) But to the extent that the trial court relied on its knowledge of the proceedings, its decision should be affirmed so long as it is within the range of reason. (*Satrap v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co.* (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 72, 80, fn. 1.)

ARGUMENT

A. Overview of the dispute in the Court of Appeal

The division between the majority and the dissent in this appeal reflects a larger dispute in the Court of Appeal about whether a contract-based affirmative defense is an "action" or "proceeding" as those terms are used in attorney-fee clauses.

The Court of Appeal rejected that theory in Exxess Electronixx v. Heger Realty Corp. (1998) 64 Cal.App.4th 698, 712, and Gil v. Mansano (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 739, 742. As the Gil opinion explained, "the assertion of a contractual defense to a tort action is not an 'action brought to enforce the contract' and, therefore, the prevailing party is not entitled to an attorney fee award." (Id., 121 Cal.App.4th at p. 741.)

The decision in *Salamy v. Ocean Towers Housing Corp.* (2004) 121 Cal. App. 4th 664, 672-674, followed the logic of these cases in construing a statute that provided for attorney's fees in an "action . . . to enforce the governing documents" of a common-interest development. (*Id.* at p. 670, quoting Civ. Code § 1354, subd. (f).)

Justice Armstrong dissented in *Gil* and in *Salamy*, faulting the majority for adopting what he viewed as a hyper-technical interpretation of the word "action." (*Gil*, 121 Cal.App.4th at p. 746 (dis. opn. of Armstrong, J.).) The court in *Windsor Pacific LLC v. Samwood Co., Inc.* (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 263, 268, 276, was persuaded by his view, and held that an affirmative defense qualified as an "action or proceeding" that triggered an entitlement to fees.

The majority opinion in this case followed *Windsor Pacific*, explaining that it "agree[d] with Justice Armstrong" that a defendant who raises an affirmative defense has the same right to attorney fees as a plaintiff who brings an action. (Maj. Opn. at 18.) Mountain Air's research also unearthed

an earlier case taking the same view — Stockton Theatres v. Palermo (1954) 124 Cal.App.2d 353, 362 — on the ground that pleading an affirmative defense was the same thing as "commenc[ing]" a "legal proceeding."

B. Attorney fees should be available only if the parties chose to include affirmative defenses in the text of the fee provision

At the outset, it is important to clarify the limited scope of the issue presented in this case. The question is not whether the defendants deserve attorney fees. Nor is it whether attorney-fee clauses *should* be drafted so that they can be triggered by an affirmative defense. Instead, the only thing that matters is the actual text of the attorney-fee provision adopted by the parties in this case.

Litigants do not have an innate right to attorney fees. By default, they are not recoverable. (*Tract 19051 Homeowners Ass'n v. Kemp* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 1135, _____, 184 Cal.Rptr.3d 701, 705). This is the so-called "American Rule." (*Id.*) Since there is no statute authorizing non-contractual attorney fees in this case, the defendants are entitled to a fee award only if they can establish that right based on the language of the option agreement.

The majority opinion declares, however, that if the parties had wanted their attorney-fee provision not to apply to affirmative defenses then they "would have gone to greater lengths to document it." (Maj. Opn. at 18.) This flips the burden of proof, allowing the majority to elide the absence of any reference to affirmative defenses in the actual language of the contract.

The majority also attempts to avoid the import of the language used by the parties by arguing that it would produce absurd results to omit affirmative defenses from the attorney-fee provision. (Opn. at 18.) This argument is strategic, since even clear and explicit language can be disregarded in order to avoid an absurdity. (Signal Companies, Inc. v. Harbor Ins. Co. (1980) 27 Cal.3d 359, 375, citing Civ.Code § 1638.) But it fails, since there is nothing absurd about denying a defendant's right to recover attorney fees based on an affirmative defense.

But the American legal system is intentionally designed so that most litigants — whether plaintiffs or defendants — are forced to pay their own legal expenses. So it hardly shocks the conscience that a party could prevail on an affirmative defense without being entitled to attorney fees. On this side of the Atlantic, that outcome is simply par for the course.

If parties wish to allow for a fee award in an action to enforce their contract, they are not compelled to extend that arrangement to affirmative defenses. The majority here insists that raising an affirmative defense is "legally the same" as bringing an action. (Maj. Opn. at 18.) That is simply untrue. They are both vehicles for asserting legal rights, but they arise in completely different procedural contexts.

One may rationally believe that initiating litigation should carry different consequences than simply invoking a contract defensively in an existing lawsuit. That calculus makes particular sense in California, because creating a contractual right to attorney fees also spawns a reciprocal potential for liability to the other side under Civil Code section 1717. (*Hsu v. Abbara* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 863, 870-871.) The parties may prefer to retain the option of raising contract-based affirmative defenses without exposing themselves to that risk. (Cf. *Blue Lagoon Community Assn. v. Mitchell* (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 472, 477-478 [broadening statutory right to attorney fees would be "shortsighted" given "potential downside" of paying other side's costs].)

The majority points out that a defendant could pursue an attorney-fee award if, instead of raising novation as an affirmative defense, the defendant simply filed a cross-complaint for declaratory relief based on the same facts. (Maj. Opn. at 18.) This is true, but that is a feature of the contract, not a flaw. It means that defendants enjoy two complementary options for asserting their contractual rights. The conservative approach is to only plead a defense, knowing that each side will pay for its own attorney fees. The aggressive approach is to file a cross-complaint, which puts both sides at risk for an award of contractual attorney fees.

But even if there were a loophole in the terms of the contract, it would not be the Court's responsibility to patch it. (See Safeco Ins. Co. of America v. Robert S. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 758, 763-764 [invalidating "illegal acts" exclusion as overbroad instead of limiting it to "criminal acts"].) "Courts cannot make for the parties better agreements than they themselves made or rewrite contracts because they operate harshly or inequitably as to one of the parties." (Hinckley v. Bechtel Corp. (1974) 41 Cal.App.3d 206, 211.) "To do so would violate the fundamental principle that in interpreting contracts . . . courts are not to insert what has been omitted." (Safeco, 26 Cal.4th at p. 764.)

That principle delimits the inquiry before the Court. If the text of the attorney-fee clause includes affirmative defenses, then the defendants are entitled to a fee award. But if that language is absent, then the Court must respect the parties' decision not to make attorney fees available based on an affirmative defense.

C. The plain language of the attorney-fee clause does not include affirmative defenses

1. An affirmative defense is neither an "action" nor a "proceeding"

If the Court agrees to enforce the contract as written, then this appeal is functionally over because there is not a single word in the attorney-fee clause about affirmative defenses. By its terms, it applies to a "legal action or any other proceeding, including arbitration or an action for declaratory relief . . . brought for the enforcement of this Agreement." (Maj. Opn. at 11-12.)

This means that the clause does not reach affirmative defenses because a defense is not an action or proceeding. (Exxess Electronixx v. Heger Realty Corp. (1998) 64 Cal.App.4th 698, 712 ("Under any reasonable interpretation of the attorneys' fee provision, we cannot equate raising a 'defense' with bringing an 'action' or 'proceeding'."]; accord Gil v. Mansano (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 739, 744 ["the assertion of a defense does not constitute the bringing of an action to accomplish that goal"].)

These are the standard terms used in many attorney-fee clauses, precisely because their meaning is so clear.

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