## SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 17 2015

S223536

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

## MOUNTAIN AIR ENTERPRISES, LLC

Plaintiff and Respondent,

ν.

#### SUNDOWNER TOWERS, LLC et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL,
FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO, CASE NO. A138306,
REVERSING ORDER OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA,
FOR THE COUNTY OF MARIN, CASE NO. CIV081957

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\*Joe R. Abramson (SBN 105241) LAW OFFICES OF JOE R. ABRAMSON 21700 Oxnard Street, Suite 1770 Woodland Hills, California 91367 Telephone: (818) 227-6690 Facsimile: (818) 227-6699

E-mail: jralaw1@pacbell.net

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

#### **LEGAL ARGUMENT**

I. THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE ATTORNEY FEE PROVISION, WHICH PROVIDES FOR THE RECOVERY OF FEES "IN ANY ACTION OR ANY OTHER PROCEEDING," INCLUDES AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES WITHIN ITS BROAD SCOPE.

It is well-settled under California law that "[e]xcept as attorney's fees are specifically provided for by statute, the measure and mode of compensation of attorneys and counselors at law is left to the agreement, express or implied, of the parties." (Code Civ. Proc., § 1021.) This Court has explained that when interpreting the scope of an agreement that provides for the recovery of attorney fees, courts must "apply the ordinary rules of contract interpretation." (Santisas, supra, 17 Cal.4th at p. 608.) Under those interpretative rules, "the mutual intention of the parties at the time the contract [wa]s formed"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In any event, the majority properly concluded that the standard of review regarding whether Defendants' novation defense fell within the provision's specified purposes was also de novo, as there was no conflicting evidence. (Maj. opn., 20, fn. 12.)

governs the construction of an attorney fee provision. <sup>5</sup> (*Ibid.*, citing Civ. Code, § 1636.)

This Court ascertains the contracting parties' intention, if possible, solely from the contract's written language. (Santisas, supra, 17 Cal.4th at p. 608, citing Civ. Code, § 1639.) The Court may "also consider the circumstances under which the contract was made and the matter to which it relates." (Windsor Pacific, supra, 213 Cal.App.4th at p. 274, citing Civ. Code, § 1647.) The "clear and explicit' meaning" of the words in the attorney fee provision, "interpreted in their 'ordinary and popular sense,' unless 'used by the parties in a technical sense or a special meaning is given to them by usage' controls judicial interpretation." (Santisas, supra, 17 Cal.4th at p. 608, quoting Civ. Code, §§ 1638, 1644.) "If contractual language is clear and explicit and does not involve an absurdity, the plain meaning governs." (Windsor Pacific, supra, 213 Cal.App.4th at p. 274, citing Civ. Code § 1638.)

As the majority opinion in the Court of Appeal, as well as the recent decision of the Court of Appeal in *Windsor Pacific*, *supra*, 213 Cal.App.4th 263, concluded, the ordinary meaning of the words

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> An attorney fee clause can provide for an attorney fee award in an action on the contract or, if worded more broadly, on noncontract actions. (Maj. opn., 6-7, citing Civ. Code, § 1717, and Code Civ. Proc., § 1021.) Neither party, nor the Court of Appeal, has raised any issue in this case as to the application of Civil Code section 1717. The sole issue presented here is whether Defendants' affirmative defense is an "action" or "proceeding" within the meaning of the Option Agreement's attorney fee provision. (OBOM 1.)

"action" and "proceeding" includes affirmative defenses. Mountain Air's position that, "[b]y definition" (OBOM 14), an affirmative defense is neither an "action" nor a "proceeding" necessarily fails. Neither does Mountain Air's reliance on the word "brought" narrow the broad scope of "any legal action or any other proceeding" or evidence any intent by the parties to limit the availability of fees to the initiation of a suit by pleading a claim in a complaint. Rather, reading these words within the context of this attorney fee provision confirms that pleading an affirmative defense in an answer triggers its coverage.

## A. The Words "Action" And "Proceeding" Encompass Affirmative Defenses.

The majority opinion in the Court of Appeal, after carefully analyzing the meaning of "action" and "proceeding" and reading those words within the context of the attorney fee provision, properly concluded that an affirmative defense constitutes an "action" or "proceeding" within the scope of the attorney fee provision. A party who asserts an affirmative defense brings an "action" or "proceeding"—whether these words are interpreted in their "ordinary and popular sense" (Civ. Code, § 1644), or afforded a specialized legal meaning. (Maj. opn., 13-15 & fn. 9.)

The American Heritage Dictionary defines "action," as used in the context of "Law," as "[a] proceeding brought before a court to obtain relief; a lawsuit." (American Heritage Dictionary (5th ed. 2011) p. 17.) An "action" is "the initiating of a proceeding in a court of justice by which one demands or enforces one's right" and also "the proceeding itself." (Merriam-Webster Online, 2015. "Action" <a href="http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/action">http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/action</a>.) Similarly, Black's Law Dictionary defines "action," as, inter alia, "[a] civil or criminal judicial proceeding." (Black's Law Dict. (10th ed. 2014) p. 35, col. 1.)

Mountain Air, however, would limit the meaning of "action" to the filing of a complaint or cross-complaint, initiating a lawsuit. (OBOM 13, citing *Gil*, *supra*, 121 Cal.App.4th at p. 744, and Code Civ. Proc., §§ 20-22.) But the meaning of "action" is not so limited. According to each of the definitions discussed above, an "action" may encompass the entire proceeding, in addition to the act that initiates the lawsuit. A party thus may bring an "action" when it pleads an affirmative defense, just as a party brings an "action" when it pleads a claim. As Justice Armstrong explained in his dissenting opinion in *Gil*, courts have recognized in a number of contexts that the word "action" is not limited and precise, but general and inclusive." (*Supra*, 121 Cal.App.4th at p. 747 (dis. opn. of Armstrong, J.), citing cases.)

In *Palmer v. Agee* (1978) 87 Cal.App.3d 377, for example, the Court of Appeal considered the word "action" in the context of a statutory provision for the recovery of attorney fees in any "action" arising out of a special statute related to the termination of mobile home tenancies. (*Id.* at pp. 386-387.) Mobile home landlords had filed a complaint for unlawful detainer against tenants for nonpayment of rent, and the tenants asserted, as a defense, the fact that the

landlords had not complied with the special statute. The tenants prevailed on their defense. *Palmer* held the tenants' defense constituted an "action" arising out of that special statute, holding an "[a]ction is not limited to the complaint or the document initiating the action but the entire judicial proceeding." (*Id.* at p. 387.) "The defenses raised in the answer to the complaint are a real part of any action." (*Ibid.*)

Both this Court and the Court of Appeal have similarly refused to restrict the meaning of the word "action" in the context of attorney fees recoverable under Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5, which provides for fees to the successful party "in any action" resulting in the enforcement of an important right affecting the public interest. (*In re Head* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 223, 228 ["action" in section 1021.5 encompasses habeas corpus proceedings, even though habeas corpus is a special proceeding and not a civil action]; *Best v. California Apprenticeship Council* (1987) 193 Cal.App.3d 1448, 1460-61 ["action" in section 1021.5 encompasses administrative proceedings that preceded a later-filed civil action].) "[T]he use of the term 'action' does not in all contexts refer to the technical meaning of the term as defined in the Code of Civil Procedure." (*Best*, *supra*, 193 Cal.App.3d at p. 1460.)

Nonetheless, even if the word "action" in the Option Agreement's attorney fee clause were construed narrowly here, "the inclusion of the phrase 'or *any other proceeding*' suggests something broader." (Maj. opn., 13, emphasis added.)

"Proceeding" is broadly defined in ordinary usage as "[a] course of action; a procedure" (American Heritage Dict., *supra*, p. 1404) or, in legal usage, as "[l]egal action; litigation" (*ibid.*) or "the process of appearing before a court of law so a decision can be made about an argument or claim: a legal action" (Merriam Webster Online, 2015. "Proceeding" <a href="http://www.merriam-webster.com">http://www.merriam-webster.com</a>). Black's Law Dictionary defines "proceeding" as "[t]he regular and orderly progression of a lawsuit, *including all acts and events between the time of commencement and the entry of judgment.*" (Black's Law Dict., *supra*, at p. 1398, col. 1, emphasis added.) A "proceeding" may be "[a]n act or step that is part of a larger action." (*Ibid.*)

Black's Law Dictionary explains that the word "proceeding" is necessarily more comprehensive than the word "action," quoting Edwin E. Bryant, The Law of Pleading Under the Codes of Civil Procedure 3-4 (2d ed. 1899), which stated that a "proceeding" is "a word much used to express the business done in courts" and is "an act done by the authority or direction of the court, express or implied." (Black's Law Dict., *supra*, at p. 1398.) "Proceeding" "is more comprehensive than the word 'action,' but it may include in its general sense *all the steps taken or measures adopted in the prosecution or defense of an action*, including the pleadings and judgment." (*Ibid.*, emphasis added.) Thus, as the majority opinion in the Court of Appeal concluded, "[a]n affirmative defense falls squarely within" the definition of "proceeding." (Maj. opn., 13-14; see also *Zellerino v. Brown* (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 1097, 1105

[construing "proceeding" broadly to include "[a]nything done from the commencement to the termination" in the progress of a civil action (quoting *Stonesifer v. Kilburn* (1892) 94 Cal. 33, 43)].)

Mountain Air's position that "[b]y definition, a defense is neither an action nor a proceeding" (OBOM 14, emphasis added) is therefore plainly incorrect. Both "action" and "proceeding" have broad meanings that "encompass the entire action or proceeding, including both the complaint and any responsive pleading, such as an answer." (Windsor Pacific, supra, 213 Cal.App.4th at p. 274.) The broad definitions of these words undermine Mountain Air's argument that the drafters, by using these words, indicated their intent to "adopt[] a narrow[] fee provision" and exclude affirmative defenses from its scope. (OBOM 15.)

Neither is there any merit to Mountain Air's argument that the word "proceeding"—notwithstanding its "expansive definition" in some contexts—should be given a narrow reading here. (OBOM 16-19.) Mountain Air criticizes the Court of Appeal's reliance on the broad meaning of "proceeding" applied in *Zellerino*, 235 Cal.App.3d 1097. (OBOM 17; Maj. opn., 14.) *Zellerino* recognized that "proceeding" may have various meanings, depending on context. (*Supra*, 235 Cal.App.3d at p. 1105.) According to Mountain Air, the Option Agreement's attorney fee provision, unlike the text interpreted in *Zellerino*, requires a narrower reading of "proceeding." (OBOM 17.)

The narrower, restrictive meaning of "proceeding" for which Mountain Air advocates, however, does not support its construction of the attorney fee provision. The narrow definition of "proceeding" that *Zellerino* recognized (but ultimately rejected in favor of a broader meaning) was "an action or remedy *before a court*." (*Supra*, 235 Cal.App.3d at p. 1105, emphasis added.) For this narrower definition, *Zellerino* relied on cases that specifically considered whether the word "proceeding" was limited to a proceedings before a *judicial* tribunal or also encompassed non-judicial proceedings. (*Ibid.*, citing *People v. Gutierrez* (1986) 177 Cal.App.3d 92, 99-100 [holding "proceeding" in article I, section 14 of the California Constitution gives a right to an interpreter during proceedings "held before a judicial tribunal," not a probation interview], and *Gibson v. Sacramento County* (1918) 37 Cal.App. 523, 526 [defining "criminal proceeding" as "some authorized step taken before a judicial tribunal"].)

If this narrower definition of "proceeding" were employed here and "proceeding" were defined as "an action or remedy before a court," then there is no distinction between the meaning of "legal action" and "proceeding" in the attorney fee provision. If, as Mountain Air argues, a "legal action" is an example of a "proceeding" (OBOM 18-19), its construction fails by giving the words the same meaning. Mountain Air's interpretation thus renders either "legal action" or "proceeding" superfluous within the attorney fee clause, violating well-settled principles of construction. (Maj. opn., 14, citing Deutsch v. Phillips Petroleum Co. (1976) 56 Cal.App.3d 586, 590

[contractual provision "must be construed so as to give force and effect to every word contained within it"].)

Moreover, construing "legal action" as an example of a "proceeding" does not foreclose a reading of this provision that both claims in a complaint and affirmative defenses in an answer as examples of a "proceeding." Mountain Air's contention that "proceeding" can only refer to the "entirety of a suit" fails because it assumes that the terms "legal action, "arbitration," and "an action for declaratory relief" only include the documents that initiate such proceedings. There is no support for such limitation.<sup>6</sup>

Finally, reading "proceeding" to encompass the assertion of a contract-based affirmative defenses will not render the attorney fee provision "incomprehensible" or "produce absurd results." (OBOM 19.) Mountain Air raises the specter of every ruling in the trial court giving rise to a separate attorney fee award without any regard to which party ultimately prevails, but ignores that the Option

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Mountain Air's construction is not bolstered by language in the attorney fee provision that authorizes the recovery of fees incurred "in that action or proceeding." (OBOM 18, original emphasis.) The phrase "in that action or proceeding" simply means that the prevailing party can only recover fees incurred in whatever action or proceeding was "brought for the enforcement of this Agreement or because of an alleged dispute, breach, default, or misrepresentation in connection with any provision of this Agreement." (See Maj. opn., 21 & fn. 15.) A prevailing party thus can only recover fees incurred on the contract-based claims or defenses. (See, e.g., *El Escorial*, *supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1365-66 [apportioning fees].)

Agreement only provides for the recovery of attorney fees to "the prevailing party." (Maj. opn., 11.)

As explained in *Frog Creek Partners, LLC v. Vance Brown, Inc.* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 515 (cited at OBOM 19), under Civil

Code section 1717, "there can be only one prevailing party entitled to attorney fees as 'the party prevailing on the contract." (*Id.* at p. 539.)

That prevailing party determination is "made only upon final resolution of the contract claims and only by a comparison of the extent to which each party has succeeded and failed to succeed in its contentions." (*Hsu v. Abbara* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 863, 876, quotations and citations omitted). Whether a party prevailed on any interim procedural steps in a lawsuit would not alter which party was ultimately deemed entitled to fees as the prevailing party.

Neither does the majority opinion in *Salawy v. Ocean Towers*Housing Corp. (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 664 (OBOM 19), provide support for Mountain Air's concerns regarding whether "proceeding" should include steps in a litigation other than the filing of a complaint. *Salawy* considered only whether a demurrer to a complaint was an "action . . . to enforce" a right and concluded it was not. (*Id.* at p. 670.) Mountain Air's concerns are unfounded.

It therefore "does not matter" whether the party who seeks the enforcement of the contract or the resolution of a dispute regarding its provisions does so "by the allegations of a complaint or by affirmative defenses in an answer." (Windsor Pacific, supra, 213 Cal.App.4th at

p. 274, emphasis added.) Either falls within the broad meaning of "action" or "proceeding."<sup>7</sup>

B. "Brought" Does Not Support An Intent To Exclude Affirmative Defenses From This Attorney Fee Provision's Broad Scope.

To support its position that the Option Agreement's attorney fee provision is narrower than the plain meaning of "action" and "proceeding," Mountain Air relies on the inclusion of the word "brought." (OBOM 15-16.) Mountain Air argues that, by using a form of the verb "bring"—instead of the verbs "plead," "raise," or "assert"—the drafters excluded (whether purposefully or not) affirmative defenses from the clause. (OBOM 15.) According to Mountain Air, the use of this verb "confirms" the parties did not intend this attorney fee provision to cover affirmative defenses. (OBOM 15.) But, as the majority opinion in the Court of Appeal

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